II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged by information filed in the Circuit Court of Alachua County with attempted murder in the first degree (R 9,10). The state filed a notice of intention to seek an enhanced penalty under Section 775.084, Fla. Stat., should Petitioner be convicted (R 36).

Petitioner was tried by jury and found guilty of the lesser offense of aggravated battery (R 38). After the verdict was returned the state filed another notice seeking to have Petitioner sentenced as an habitual offender (R 57).

A presentence investigation report was ordered and a sentencing hearing held (R 529; 657-724).

At the sentencing hearing the Petitioner stipulated that the contents of the presentence investigation report were accurate (R 659, 660). The report established that Petitioner was convicted on June 19, 1978 of burglary. He was sentenced to the Department of Corrections and subsequently paroled in December of 1979. Parole was revoked and Petitioner was sent back to prison where he remained until November 1, 1982. Petitioner had not been pardoned for that offense (R 61, 661).

Lynn Brown, a probation officer with the Department of Corrections, testified that he had prepared the presentence investigation report. That document showed that Petitioner had been arrested in Maryland on August 8, 1980 and charged with assault with intent to commit murder. Brown spoke to the officer who arrested Petitioner on that charge and he told Brown the facts leading to the arrest. Petitioner had been among a group of migrant workers traveling as a group when an

argument developed and the Petitioner stabbed one of the other occupants of the vehicle. The case had not been prosecuted, however, because the witnesses disappeared (R 666, 667).

Based upon 11 years experience in probation and parole supervision Brown testified that there was a very good likelihood Petitioner was likely to engage in future criminal conduct (R 668).

Detective Tom Terry of the Gainesville Police Department testified that Petitioner had been charged with armed robbery in 1977 but there was no trial or conviction because the victim was retarded (R 672). Terry said Petitioner had a "very bad reputation" for committing crimes (R 18).

Detective Charles Henderson testified he arrested Petitioner in 1977 for the armed robbery of Julian Barnes and had interviewed a co-defendant who implicated Petitioner in that offense (R 675, 676). The charge had been dismissed because the victim was not competent (R 677). In Detective Henderson's opinion Petitioner was a threat to the community (R 679).

Kimberly Faye Johnson was a friend of the Petitioner. She said he had a reputation in the community for "stealing things" (R 684). She said she had been with Petitioner five or six times when stole lunch meat from a convenience store in Gainesville (R 684, 685). Petitioner had never been caught committing any of those thefts (R 685).

Police Sergeant A.C. Smith said Petitioner had a reputation for being a "thief . . . in narcotic circles, burglary, robbery, ag. battery, just known as a crook." (R 690).

John Lassiter with the Alachua County Department of Corrections said Petitioner had been in the jail since May 4, 1983

(the hearing was held January 13, 1984). During that time Lassiter said Petitioner's behavior had been "aggressive and abusive toward staff and other residents, disruptive and very disrespectful." (R 696). Lassiter also said there had been an incident at the jail when Petitioner had grabbed a female inmate (R 696, 697). Petitioner also had threatened to kill Officer D. Wright (R 697).

Officer Wright testified that Petitioner had threatened to do him bodily harm on three occasions (R 699, 700).

Corrections Officer K.W. Phillips said that Petitioner had hit another inmate who had his back turned after Petitioner and the inmate had been arguing (R 702, 703).

Petitioner testified that he was the youngest of seven brothers, most of whom had been in and out of jail (R 704, 705). He had used alcohol and other drugs since he was 11 or 12 (R 704, 705). He said he had never stolen food from a convenience store (R 706).

Concerning the charges that originated in Maryland the Petitioner said he was defending himself from a man who had attacked him while they were riding a bus (R 707, 708).

At the conclusion of the evidence the state contended that the question before the court was "whether or not the public needs to be protected from further criminal activity of this defendant." (R 712). The prosecutor relied upon the pre-sentence investigation report furnished to this Court as a supplemental record to contend that Petitioner's prior record, including juvenile offenses more than three years old, arrests for which no convictions were obtained, and disciplinary reports filed while Petitioner was an inmate in the Department

of Corrections, justified finding Petitioner an habitual offender (R 712-715). The prosecutor also contended that Petitioner had lied when testifying at the trial (R 716-717).

Petitioner's counsel admitted that technically he met the standard of being a habitual offender but that:

Whether he's a danger to the community, I think that's based on a lot of discussion by police officers who are faced with his reputation, the reputation of his family and by those who are facing -- in an environment where they are not treating his problem. He's not gotten any alcohol or drug rehabilitation while he's in the county jail. He's been confined out there in a situation where's it's Kenny Whitehead against society, and he's reacting as an alcoholic being pulled off would react.

I think that we do need, when his sentence is considered, to look and make sure that he does get some sort of treatment for drug and alcohol, that that is recognized as one of the major factors causing his behavior problems, and that the system also deal with him on that grounds and the grounds that his intelligence is borderline. Kenny puts up a good show, Kenny can talk a good show. But you hear him on the stand. You heard what Mr. Groland said about him. I don't think Kenny lies, Kenny just doesn't know any different.

(R 721, 722).

Following the arguments of counsel the trial judge took the issue of whether Petitioner should be sentenced as a habitual offender under advisement (R 724).

At the subsequent sentencing, Petitioner's counsel announced that Petitioner was electing to be sentenced under the sentencing guidelines. The trial judge found that Petitioner met the criteria set by Section 775.084 and found Petitioner to be an habitual offender. Petitioner was sentenced to 30 years in the Department of Corrections (R 729-731).

In response to the prosecutor's question to the trial judge of whether a separate order was being entered "for departing from the guidelines recommended sentence?", the trial judge said that he found Petitioner met "all the criteria under Florida Statute 775.084 as an habitual offender." (R 732, 733).

Two days later another proceeding was held at which the Petitioner was informed of his right to appeal the judgment and sentence. Petitioner's counsel asked him if they had discussed the sentencing scoresheet, which indicated a sentence of no more than three and a half years would be imposed assuming that the guidelines were followed. Counsel also asked Petitioner if he had not explained to him that the court could go outside the guidelines "upon written report" (R 738). Petitioner acknowledged that he had discussed the guidelines sentence with counsel; and a written election of sentencing procedure was executed and filed at that time (R 737-739, R 58).

The guidelines scoresheet approved by the trial judge had a recommended sentence of 30 months to three and a half years. The court's 30 year sentence was justified by the habitual offender order which was attached (R 66). That order states in part as follows:

2. That it is necessary for the protection of the public to sentence the Defendant to an extended term of five years as provided in Section 775.084(4) and this finding is based upon the following: (a) The testimony of witnesses at the trial in this cause as to the circumstances surrounding the entire stabbing incident which leads this Court to conclude that the stabbing of Arthur Lee Johnson in the back by this Defendant, Kenneth Whitehead, was cruel, unprovoked and cowardly. (b) The testimony of the Defendant, Kenneth Whitehead, at trial which this

Court finds to be unworthy of belief. (c) The uncontested testimony of Detective Tom Terry of the Gainesville Police Department that the Defendant Kenneth Whitehead has a reputation within the Gainesville Police Department for committing crimes within the community. (d) The uncontested testimony of Detective Charles Paul Henderson of the Gainesville Police Department concerning his arrest of the Defendant Kenneth Whitehead in June, 1977, for an armed robbery charge and his testimony likewise uncontested that the victim in this case, a retarded person, who knew the Defendant in the past, positively identified the Defendant, Kenneth Whitehead, as the person who robbed him at knife-point and took \$24.00 in U.S. Currency from him. (e) The uncontested testimony from Sgt. A.W. Smith of the Gainesville Department who said he knows the Defendant for a number of years and the Defendant has a reputation in the community as being a "crook". (f) The Defendant's own testimony in court, at this hearing and at trial that he has continuously over the years imbibed in illegal drugs. (g) The testimony of Kim Fay Johnson who said that she has observed the Defendant on at least five or six occasions in January or February of 1983 shoplifting food from a local 7-11 food store. (h) The testimony of Sgt. John Lasseter of the Alachua County Adult Detention Center that in October, 1983 he heard the Defendant Kenneth Whitehead threaten to kill Corrections Officer Dee Wright and that the Defendant has been aggressive, disruptive and a constant source of problems during his incarceration at the Alachua County Adult Detention Center since May, 1983. (i) The testimony of Corrections Officer Dee Wright who stated that the Defendant, Kenneth Whitehead, had twice in the past threatened to kill him (and on one occasion kill his family) and Officer Wright's testimony that the Defendant Kenneth Whitehead struck him in the face in October, 1983 while said Defendant was incarcerated in the Alachua County Detention Center. (j) The testimony of Corrections Officer Charles Phillips that he observed the Defendant Kenneth Whitehead

in an argument at the Alachua County Detention Center with another inmate in 1983 and when the other person in that argument turned his back and walked away from the Defendant, said Defendant struck that person with his fist in the head. (k) The uncontested testimony of Probation Officer Lynn Brown as to how he obtained and compiled all of the information in the P.S.I. report (which the Defendant through his attorney has stipulated is true and accurate) and further the testimony of Lynn Brown that in his opinion, which was not objected to, based upon eleven (11) years of experience as a Probation Officer in Michigan and Florida, it is likely that the Defendant Kenneth Whitehead will continue to engage in criminal activities. (l) The actual contents, hearsay and otherwise, of the P.S.I. report itself which was stipulated to by the Defendant and his attorney as being true and accurate. (m) The criminal records section of the P.S.I. report which states that as a juvenile and an adult the Defendant, although 23 years old, has been arrested approximately 29 times and has already been convicted as a juvenile and an adult, of burglary, breaking and entering, attempted robbery, simple assault, trespass after warning, and most recently, aggravated battery. (n) The Defendant's testimony at hearing concerning an incident in Maryland in August, 1980 where he stabbed another and was arrested and jailed for several months on the charge of assault with intent to commit murder and further the uncontested testimony of Probation Office Lynn Brown that said charge was dismissed because the witnesses were migrant workers who could not be located after the Defendant's arrest. (o) The portion of the P.S.I. report which indicates that the Defendant was paroled on December 18, 1979 and then on June 3, 1981 had his parole revoked for failing to remain at liberty without violating the law and being an absconder from supervision.

(R 67-70).

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal pro se on January 30, 1984 (R 81). On the same day his counsel filed a motion

to vacate and correct sentence (R 82-100). No order was entered on counsel's motion. Counsel filed a notice of appeal February 16, 1984 (R 101).

On appeal, Petitioner argued that his election to be sentenced pursuant to the guidelines was not knowing and voluntary, because he did not expressly give up his right to parole. The First District Court of Appeal applied prior decisions and found that his election satisfied the "affirmative" standard, but certified the question (Appendix A at 2). Petitioner also argued that the habitual offender finding could not act as a reason for departure from the recommended guidelines sentence. The First District Court of Appeal disagreed and held that the finding of a habitual felony offender "alone is a clear and convincing reason for departure from the guidelines." Appendix A at 3). Petitioner challenged this latter holding by motion for rehearing (Appendix B) which was denied without comment (Appendix C).

On May 21, 1985, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed.

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the first issue, Petitioner will argue that an election to be sentenced pursuant to the guidelines must be knowing and voluntary, and made by the defendant himself, with full knowledge that he has given up his right to parole.

In the second issue, Petitioner will argue that a habitual offender finding cannot, in and of itself, act as a justification for an upward departure from the recommended sentence.

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHEN A DEFENDANT WHO COMMITTED A CRIME BEFORE 1 OCTOBER 1983 AFFIRMATIVELY SELECTS SENTENCING PURSUANT TO THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, THE RECORD MUST SHOW THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED THE RIGHT TO PAROLE ELIGIBILITY.

The First District has in a number cases, in addition to the instant one, held that an election to be sentenced under the sentencing guidelines need only be "affirmative" as opposed to the more strict "knowing and voluntary" standard. Williams v. State, 454 So.2d 751 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Kiser v. State, 455 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Coates v. State, 458 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Jones v. State, 459 So.2d 1151 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Cochran v. State, 460 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), disc. rev. pend. No. 64,388; Millett v. State, 460 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); and Gage v. State, 461 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), disc. rev. pend. No. 66,389. In all of these cases, the First District has cited Moore v. State, 455 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) its initial decision on this question, as authority for the proposition that an election need only be affirmative.

In Moore, the court found that neither this Court nor the Legislature had intended that an election be anything more than "affirmative", since that term is used both in Section 921.001(4) (a), Florida Statutes, and in this Court's opinion promulgated the original guidelines in 1983, In re Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines), 439 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1983). The court apparently believed that because the words "knowing and voluntary" do not appear in either source, and the term "affirmative" does, then a waiver need not be knowing and voluntary. The problem with the First District's

simplistic view of the statute and rule is that it ignores the fact that any defendant who elects the guidelines is necessarily giving up a valuable right - - the right to parole.

Without question, if a defendant elects to be sentenced under the guidelines, he is not eligible for parole on any part of his sentence, and he can only be released from prison through one of three other specified methods:

A person convicted of crimes committed on or after October 1, 1983, or any other person sentenced pursuant to sentencing guidelines adopted under this section shall be released from incarceration only:

- (a) Upon expiration of his sentence;
- (b) Upon expiration of his sentence as reduced by accumulated gain-time; or
- (c) As directed by an executive order granting clemency.

The provisions of chapter 947 shall not be applied to such person.

Section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes.

The First District's simplistic view also ignores the rule of law that when parole is denied to someone who is otherwise eligible for it, an ex post facto violation occurs.

Legislative restriction of the statutory right to be considered for parole violates the ex post facto clauses of both the state and federal constitutions, Art. I §§9, 10 United States Constitution and Art. I, §9 Florida Constitution, if applied to persons whose offenses occurred prior to the effective date of the act imposing the restrictions. For example, in State v. Williams, 397 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1981) this Court held that Section 947.16(3), Florida Statutes, authorizing retention of jurisdiction by the trial judge to vacate a parole order, had disadvantageous consequences and therefore when applied to persons whose crimes occurred before the act became effective was a prohibited

ex post facto law.

In Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24 (1981) the Court held that a statute decreasing gain time credits was retroactive in application and therefore violated the ex post facto clause of the constitution, saying:

We need not determine whether the prospect of the gain time was in some tactical sense part of the sentence to conclude that it in fact is one determinant of petitioner's prison term - and that his effective sentence is altered once this determinant is changed. [Citations omitted]. See also Rodriguez v. United States Parole Commission, 594 F.2d 170 (Ca. 7 1979) (elimination of parole eligibility held an ex post facto violation). We have previously recognized a prisoner's eligibility for reduced imprisonment is a significant factor entering into both the defendant's decision to plea bargain and the judge's calculation of the sentence to be imposed.

450 U.S. at 31-32.

The Third District Court of Appeal has already told us how it will rule when faced with this issue, in Gonzalez v. State, 465 So.2d 613, 614 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985):

Because we remand for sentencing, we need not decide the further point posed by the appellant - namely, whether he, as a person whose crime occurred before October 1, 1983, and who is therefore given the right to elect to be sentenced under the guidelines, must on the record affirmatively waive his right to parole eligibility before his election of guideline sentencing will be deemed free and voluntary. While there is authority that such an affirmative waiver is unnecessary, see, e.g., Harris v. State, 465 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Gage v. State, 461 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Cochran v. State, 460 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Kiser v. State, 455 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Moore v. State, 455 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), nonetheless, the question has been certified to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance, and until the question is finally resolved, the trial

court would be well advised to obtain the defendant's waiver of his right to parole eligibility preceding any resentencing under the guidelines.

A fundamental principle of law is that a waiver of constitutional rights cannot be presumed from a silent record. Carnley v. Cochran, 369 U.S. 508 (1962); Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). The record fails to show that petitioner knew or understood that in exchange for selecting guidelines sentencing he was giving up the right to parole consideration at any time during the sentencing hearings.

The Legislature and this Court have both stated that a defendant could elect sentencing under the guidelines. No procedure, however, was suggested or adopted for making that election as a matter of record. Because the election inherently involves waiver of a constitutional right, the record of that election must show a knowing and voluntary and intelligent waiver, in the same manner as the record of a guilty plea must show the waiver of certain constitutional rights given at that time. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.712(c)(iii). Moreover, the court is required by that rule to inform the defendant of any minimum sentences or portions of sentences during which there is no parole eligibility. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)(i); Peak v. State, 399 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). A plea which is defective in non-compliance with this rule is vulnerable to attack. Williams v. State, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1975).

In State v. Green, 421 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1982), the issue was whether it was error to deny a motion to vacate a sentence after a guilty plea in which the trial judge had failed to inform the defendant of the possibility of retaining jurisdiction

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