# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH Attorney General

ROYALL P. TERRY, JR. Assistant Attorney General

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8048 (904) 488-0290

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant/defendant below and respondent was the appellee/plaintiff.

References to the consecutively numbered transcript of the record on appeal and of the various proceedings will be made by use of the symbol "R" followed by the page number(s) appearing in the lower right hand corner.

References to petitioner's Appendix (opinion below) will be made by use of the symbol "A." Any other references will be specifically designated.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Appellee accepts appellant's statement of the case and of the facts for purposes of this appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### As To Issue I

Parole eligibility is not a constitutional right. It is solely a creature of the legislature. Applicable law requires only that an affirmative election to be sentenced under the guidelines be made in the record. No ritualistic procedure indicating knowing and intelligent waiver of parole eligibility is required in order to remove such results from the proscriptions of Art.I, § 10 (ex post facto), Constitution of the United States. Even if a knowing and intelligent waiver were constitutionally mandated there was such a waiver in the instant case as the record clearly shows.

### As To Issue II

Unlike the question raised under petitioner's Issue I, Issue II was not certified by the lower court as a question of great public importance and the Supreme Court need not address it except as a matter of absolute discretion. In any case, a finding, supported by the evidence that a defendant may be sentenced as an habitual offender is clear and convincing reason and justification for departure from the sentencing guidelines because of the stricter recidivist standard. When such a finding has been reduced to writing, a second writing vis-a-vis reason for departure from the sentencing guidelines is superfluous and not required by law.

#### ARGUMENT

**ISSUE I** 

PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO WITHDRAW OR HAVE VACATED HIS ELECTION TO BE SENTENCED UNDER THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES.

In the case <u>sub judice</u> the First District Court of Appeal has certified the following question to the Supreme Court as one of great public importance:

> WHEN A DEFENDANT WHO COMMITTED A CRIME BEFORE October 1, 1983, AFFIRMATIVELY SELECTS SENTENCING PURSUANT TO THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, MUST THE RECORD SHOW THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED THE RIGHT TO PAROLE ELIGIBILITY?

Petitioner is asking that he be permitted to withdraw his affirmative election to be sentenced under the sentencing guidelines on grounds that the record allegedly does not show that his election was done "knowingly and intelligently." Petitioner argues that if the courts observe the language of § 921.001(4)(1), F.S., and 3.701 (see committee notes), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, and the weight of the authority construing what constitutes "affirmative selection" on the part of a defendant (who elects to be sentenced under the sentencing guidelines for crimes committed before October 1, 1983, for which sentence might be imposed after that date) such person is deprived of federally guaranteed constitutional rights. The respondent disagrees and argues that the meanings and language of the applicable statute and rule are clear and that the weight of the construing authority and the ruling of the district court below were and are correct and in no way dilute any constitutional rights to which petitioner is entitled.

Petitioner seems to be saying that even if the record and documents filed with the court indicate clearly that counsel has fully explained to the defendant his available options under the provisions of the statutes and sentencing under the law that prevailed at the time the crime was committed, that the record should reflect some ritualistic panoply of questions and answers akin to the entry of a negotiated plea of guilty. The weight of judicial authority construing these provisions of the law shows clearly both that the courts have never adopted the position that the legislature ever intended anything beyond an affirmative selection of record and that, moreover, such an election has never been given the dignity of a waiver of federally guaranteed constitutional rights. It is a novel construction which the petitioner now urges upon this court.

The respondent disagrees that there is any question of <u>ex</u> <u>post facto</u> limitation of constitutional rights as parole itself is not a constitutional right nor is eligibility for parole as the latter must be earned. To crown the questions of parole or eligibility for parole with a constitutional diadem is to invite

- 5 -

speculation as to what might or might not transpire respecting some imagined standing of the petitioner before a parole board at some future indeterminate time.

It is the respondent's position that the First District Court of Appeal was correct in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 49 (Fla.1st DCA 1984), <u>review granted</u>, 10 F.L.W. 24, that the application of Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.701 requires only that the defendant "affirmatively selects" to be sentenced pursuant to the rule and that such affirmative selection does not require any advisement by the court as to parole eligibility. Colloquy between the trial court and defense counsel clearly evidencing defendant's affirmative selection to be sentenced under the sentencing guidelines complies with the law and there is no indication in either the rules of criminal procedure on sentencing guidelines or in § 921.001(4) (a) that the term "affirmatively" was intended to mean "knowingly and intelligently." <u>Moore v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 535 (Fla.1st DCA 1984).

Returning to petitioner's constitutional argument relating to <u>ex post facto</u> law, petitioner urges that his "right" to parole or parole eligibility must be knowingly and intelligently waived on the record. But this is based on the false premise that a known constitutional right is at stake. Right to trial by jury, to confrontation with accusers, and right to be represented by counsel, etc., are constitutional rights and any waiver of same

- 6 -

should be done knowingly and intelligently. But the speculative consequences of a full-blown parole hearing that may never take place are qualitatively different from the consequences of waiver of fundamental rights. Williams v. State, 454 So.2d 751 (Fla.1st DCA 1984), Jones v. State, 459 So.2d 1151 (Fla.1st DCA 1984). Jones involved a negotiated plea and though it is well established that the voluntariness of a quilty plea is dependent upon an awareness of the consequences thereof, the court held to the view that, even under that standard, an election to be sentenced under the sentencing guidelines requires only an affirmative selection, without any requirement that the court advise a defendant concerning parole ineligibility. There is ample authority for the proposition that in no wise is the matter of parole, right to parole, eligibility for parole of constitutional dimension except where equal protection under the law might be involved and even in such cases the question of protectable entitlement is one that should be resolved on a case-by-case basis. Greenholtz v. Inmates at the Penal and Correctional Complex, 442 U.S. 1, 60 L.Ed.2d 668 (1979), Daniels v. Parole and Probation Commission, 401 So.2d 1351 (Fla.1st DCA 1981), Staton v. Wainwright, 665 F.2d 686 (5th Cir. 1982), cert.denied, 72 L.Ed.2d 166, Moore v. Florida Parole and Probation Commission, 289 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1974), cert.denied, 41 L.Ed.2d 239.

Parole is not freedom in the complete sense of the word. It is merely a means of serving out a sentence outside of prison

- 7 -

walls. <u>Marsh v. Greenwood</u>, 65 So.2d 15 (Fla. 1953). Thus, there is no consideration of fourth amendment rights. Except for the setting, a parolee is still very much a prisoner of the state. Even if an inmate were unlawfully denied an opportunity to qualify for parole his proper remedy would be in the filing of habeas corpus petition. He would still not have the inherent right to live where he pleased or come and go as he pleased whenever he pleased. For these reasons, a waiver of parole eligibility is distinguishable from waivers of well-defined constitutional rights, <u>e.g.</u>, right against self-incrimination, right to counsel, etc., as were held to be subject to knowing and intelligent waiver in <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969).

Even behind bars, waiver of consideration for parole is a unilateral, personal act but it may be waived either expressly, impliedly or by conduct. There is no requirement that there be a formal, ritualized waiver in open court and made part of a court record. AGO 078-29, Feb. 21, 1978, citing <u>Gilman v. Butzloff</u>, 22 So.2d 263 (Fla. 1945), <u>Gay v. Whitehurst</u>, 44 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1950), <u>Ex parte Alvarez</u>, 39 So. 481 (1905). <u>See also</u> 67 C.J.S. Pardons § 21, p. 609.

It is the position of the state that since a defendant may waive even a constitutional right, an option that does not rise to the level of a constitutional right could certainly be waived

- 8 -

by an affirmative election, as announced by counsel in open court. Trial counsel may make and announce strategic decisions of, by and for his client. <u>Wainwright v. Sykes</u>, 433 U.S. 72 (1962). In such cases, defendants are bound by acts of counsel and should not be permitted to challenge judicial acts done at counsel's request. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978), <u>McPhee v.</u> <u>State</u>, 254 So.2d 406 (Fla.1st DCA 1971), and <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981).

In the instant case petitioner is obviously unhappy with the sentence he received after his election to be sentenced under the guidelines. Now that he knows what his sentence is he wants to waive his right to be sentenced under the guidelines and to be sentenced under the general law prevailing at the time he committed his crime. What should this court assume in this case, that defense counsel was either incompetent or deceived the court when he filed with the trial court his client's "election of sentencing procedure"? (R 58). Contemporaneous to the filing of that document petitioner Kenneth Whitehead signed his name and elected "to be sentenced pursuant to § 921.001, F.S. (1983), and Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.701." On the face of that same piece of paper appears a certificate of counsel that reads as follows: ''I hereby certify that I have fully explained to the defendant his options under the provisions of the Florida statutes and the defendant has knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently made the above election of sentencing procedure." (Signed) Don Reid, as Counsel for Defendant. (Emphasis added.)

- 9 -

There has been no showing by petitioner that Mr. Reid did not do exactly what he certified that he did. Petitioner should not be allowed to pick, choose and then shop around until he finds a more favorable alternative sentence.

On January 18, 1984 when petitioner appeared before the trial judge for sentencing, defense counsel Don Reid addressed the court as follows:

> Yes, Your Honor, in being handed a transcript of the proceeding the other day, it indicated that what I referred to as a matrix is the sentencing scoresheet under the sentencing laws, and the sentencing scoresheet was given to Mr. Whitehead -- is that correct -- and we went over the sentencing scoresheets which indicated under the guidelines as set by the courts of Florida. Mr. Whitehead, if those guidelines were followed, would receive a sentence of no more three and a half years. But it was also explained to him that he could go outside the guidelines upon written report -- that having been adjudged an habitual offender, that as you announced in court you had gone outside those guidelines -- correct, Mr. Whitehead?

MR. WHITEHEAD: Yeah.

MR. GROLAN: Mr. Reid and I would ask, Your Honor -- I think I provided you earlier with a form provided by the clerk's office entitled Election of Sentencing Procedure, and I would ask you if you are inclined to execute that at this time, to give a copy of that to the clerk so that the record would be complete. MR. REID: Indicating that you were sentenced and elected to be sentenced under the sentencing guidelines provision; is that correct?

MR. WHITEHEAD: (Nods)

MR. REID: Would you sign that, Mr. Whitehead.

(the defendant signed the abovementioned document.)

The foregoing and the election document mentioned should convince anyone that defense counsel fully explained the sentencing options to his client and that petitioner's election to be sentenced under the guidelines not only constitutes an affirmative election but under the circumstances that prevailed and the pains that counsel took was, in fact, a knowing and intelligent waiver of any and all options available to the petitioner under the general law.

Even if the court is inclined toward the ritualistic approach to sentencing elections in such cases, petitioner in the instant case, deserves no relief, as the record is ample and adequate to show, that after consultation with his attorney as to his options, he knowingly and intelligently waived any of the options available to him through sentencing under the then existing law. He gambled and he lost and now he seeks to make the best of a bad situation by demanding that he be given the opportunity to be considered for parole, when the sentence resulting from this free election turned out not to be to his liking.

- 11 -

### **ISSUE II**

THE TRIAL JUDGE'S IMPOSITION OF A SENTENCE IN EXCESS OF THE RECOMMENDED RANGE IN THE APPLICABLE SENTENCING GUIDELINES PREDICATED UPON A FINDING THAT APPELLANT IS A PROPER SUBJECT FOR SENTENCING AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER WAS NOT ERROR. (Restated.)

The certified question of great public importance treated under Issue I is the only matter relevant to the instant cause that is before the Supreme court for review. Appellant has injected a second issue into the proceedings as Issue II in its brief, stated as follows:

> WHETHER AN ORDER FINDING PETITIONER TO BE AN HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER § 775.084 CAN BE USED AS THE SOLE JUSTIFICATION FOR AGGRAVATING A SENTENCE BEYOND THE GUIDELINES.

The court below ruled in the affirmative. On April 15, 1985, in Case No. AX-350, Judge Mills, writing for the court, said:

A finding, supported by the record, that a defendant is an habitual felony offender as defined in § 775.084(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1983), is a clear and convincing reason for departure from the sentencing guidelines. Citing <u>Cuthbert v. State</u>, 459 So.2d 1098 (Fla.1st DCA 1984); <u>Brady v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 544 (Fla.2d DCA 1984); <u>Gann v.</u> <u>State</u>, 459 So.2d 1175 (Fla.5th DCA 1984).

This question was not certified by the First District as being one of great public interest nor has there been any application for certiorari based on any apparent conflict among the district courts of appeal on this point.

It is respondent's position that the Supreme Court ought not to, for the reasons aforesaid, consider appellant's Issue II as a part of this appeal. Respondent asks that the court limit its jurisdiction, in this matter, to the one question certified by the First District. Petitioner is attempting to invoke this court's jurisdiction on a claim not arising out of the First District's certification by improperly attaching it to a certified question. Respondent is aware that once this court's jurisdiction has been invoked it may, as a discretionary matter, consider other aspects of the case in chief if it deems such ancillary matters to be of importance in addressing questions properly before the court. <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982), <u>Bould v. Touchette</u>, 349 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1977), Silver v. State, 188 So.2d 300 (Fla. 1966).

Petitioner argues that if the sentence imposed departs from the recommended sentence, the provisions of Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.701(d)(11) must apply and cites The Florida Bar: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure, No. 66,801 (Fla. April 11, 1985), slip op. at 7, which reads:

> (d)(10) If an offender is convicted under an enhancement statute, the reclassified degree should be used as the basis for scoring the primary offense in the appropriate category. If the offender is sentenced under

This was not the way the rule read in January, 1984 when petitioner was sentenced. The underlined portion (see above) was not added until April 11, 1985. Prior to the above-referenced clarification by this court there was already authority to the effect that the habitual offender statute merely prescribes longer sentences but does not reclassify the offenses enhanced as being new substantive offenses. <u>Dominguez v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 277 (5th DCA 1985), citing <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980), and <u>Small v. State</u>, 428 So.2d 337 (Fla.2d DCA 1983); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 47 (1st DCA 1979). In any case, if a court found that a defendant is an habitual offender, stated the basis on the record in compliance with § 775.084 and then reduced same to writing there would be no reason for the court to prepare a <u>second</u> set of factual findings to justify departure from the sentencing guidelines.

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